
United States District Court FI LED 

DISTRICT OF KANSAS 


UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ) 

) 

Plaintiff, ) 
) 

v. ) CASE NO. 11-mj-08049-JPO 
) 

ROXANNE JANEL JONES, ) 
a/kla Stephanie Isaiah, ) 
a/kla Jayme Furney, ) 
a/kla Kristy Bennett, ) 
a/kla Roxanne Melissa Farris, ) 


) 

Defendant. ) 


) 


CRIMINAL COMPLAINT 

I, the undersigned complainant, being duly sworn, state the following is true and 

correct to the best of my knowledge and belief. 

COUNTS ONE THROUGH ELEVEN 

Beginning in or about January 2010, and continuing until on or about June 5,2010, 

in the District of Kansas and elsewhere, the defendant, 

ROXANNE JANEL JONES, 
a/kla Stephanie Isaiah 
a/kla Jayme Furney 
a/kla Kristy Bennett 

a/kla Roxanne Melissa Farris 
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having devised a scheme and artifice to defraud and to obtain money and property by 

means of false and fraudulent pretenses and promises, as explained below as an 

"adoption scam," transmitted and caused to be transmitted, by means of wire 

communication in interstate commerce, writings, and signals, sent from a computer in 

Bonner Springs, Kansas to Money Gram's server in Minneapolis, Minnesota, via the 

Internet, as set forth below: 

Count Date Amount of 
Money Gram 

Location Money 
Gram Picked Up 

1 2/11/2010 $50.00 Speedy Cash, Kansas City, Missouri 

2 3/11/2010 $100.00 Speedy Cash, Kansas City, Missouri 

3 4/1/2010 $50.00 Speedy Cash, Kansas City, Missouri 

4 4/4/2010 $30.00 Speedy Cash, Kansas City, Missouri 

5 4/13/2010 $100.00 Speedy Cash, Kansas City, Missouri 

6 4/27/2010 $50.00 Conoco, Kansas City, Missouri 

7 4/28/2010 $50.00 Conoco, Kansas City, Missouri 

8 5/19/2010 $50.00 Speedy Cash, Kansas City, Missouri 

9 5/24/2010 $50.00 Speedy Cash, Kansas City, Missouri 

10 5/27/2010 $50.00 Conoco, Kansas City, Missouri 

11 5/28/2010 $250.00 Speedy Cash, Kansas City, Missouri 

This was in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343. 

COUNT TWELVE 

On or about April 15, 2010, in the District of Kansas and elsewhere; the defendant, 

ROXANNE JANEL JONES, 

knowingly used, without lawful authority, a means of identification of another person, that 

is, a social security number, during and in relation to the felony offense of wire fraud in 
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violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343. 

This was in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1028A. 

I am an Overland Park, Kansas Police Detective and Task Force Officer with the 

United States Secret Service. I have been so employed for thirteen years. 

Myself and Secret Service Special Agent Chad Simmons have been involved in 

the investigation of Roxanne Janel Jones, the defendant, for criminal activity related to 

adoption scams, wherein the defendant pretends to be pregnant with twins and willing 

to give her babies to families interested in adoption. The defendant obtains moneyrent 

and other expenses, as well as gifts, and then disappears without following through with 

the adoption. 

On March 22, 2011, a woman who will be referred to as "J .B." contacted the 

Overland Park Police Department after seeing a CBS news story the prior evening 

involving the defendant, using an alias name, conducted an adoption scam posing as a 

birth mother. J.B. reported being defrauded by the defendant during an adoption scam, 

however, the defendant used the name "Roxanne Melissa Farris." 

J.B. and her husband placed an advertisement in the online auction site, 

Craigslist, in January 2010, placing their dog for adoption . The defendant, using the 

name Roxanne Melissa Farris, responded to the ad and adopted their dog. A couple of 

weeks later, the defendant contacted J.B., stating the dog would not eat. During a 

conversation with J.B., the defendant said she was pregnant with twins due in June 

2010, and was contemplating whether to put them up for adoption. 

J.B. and her husband decided they would like to adopt the twins and the 

defendant agreed . The defendant recommended an attorney she had used previously, 
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to conduct a private adoption ....I.B. met with the attorney and the defendant in March 

2010, to discuss the adoption process and complete necessary paperwork. The 

attorney recommended a social worker to complete a home study required for the 

adoption process. The social worker told the defendant and J.B. that she needed the 

defendant's social security number to complete the required home study. 

J.B. asked for the defendant's social security number on multiple occasions over 

the phone but the defendant would not provide it to her. J.B.'s mother became 

concerned about this. On or about April 15, 2010, J.B.'s mother drove to the 

defendant's residence, in Kansas City, Missouri, to confront her about her social 

security number. The defendant came out on the front porch and J.B.'s mother asked 

for the defendant's social security number. The defendant became frustrated with her 

and finally, after being questioned several times, shouted "It is [XXX-XX-]1834." J.B.'s 

mother wrote it on a scrap sheet of paper as the defendant gave it to her. 

The Social Security Administration confirmed the social security number given by 

the defendant is not registered to the defendant, but rather is registered to the 

defendant's son, L.J., IV. 

From February to June 2010, J.B. communicated with the defendant on a daily 

basis, via text messaging, telling the defendant how excited she was to be adopting the 

defendant's twins. The defendant contacted J.B. often, telling J.B. that she needed 

money for rent, food, utilities, etc. In addition to meeting those requests, J.B. sent 

money to the defendant using Money Gram. Money Gram is a money transfer service 

that allows one person to send another person money. One way this is accomplished is 
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through a wire transfer. J.B. sent 11 e-Money Grams, totaling $830.00, using her home 

computer at her residence located in Bonner Springs, Kansas. 

Kim Garner, Senior Vice President of Security & Investigations with Money Gram 

International, provided information regarding the data transfer process when sending an 

e-Money Gram through Money Gram. After the sender logs onto the Money Gram 

website via their computer, data is transferred via wire transmission to the servers for 

Money Gram International located in Minneapolis, Minnesota. The information sent 

includes the sender's name, dollar amount, credit card number, and recipient name. 

The recipient is able to retrieve the money at any Money Gram location. In this 

case each transfer was retrieved at either Midway Conoco located at 4341 Paseo Blvd 

Kansas City, Missouri or Speedy Cash located at 1331 E. 63rd Street Kansas City, 

Missouri. When the recipient retrieves the money gram, the computer at the recipient's 

location transmits the data provided, as noted above, to the servers in Minneapolis 

which is then routed to the Online Processing Server. Money is then wired back to the 

server and then to the terminal at the recipient's location. The following is a list of the e-

Money Grams sent from J.B.'s home computer in Bonner Springs, Kansas, to the 

defendant at Midway Conoco or Speedy Cash, using Money Gram's computer system: 

Reference # Date/time Sent from location picked up amount 

42464732 Feb 11, 2010/ 3:15pm Bonner Springs, KS Speedy Cash (KCMO) 50.00 
63873794 Mar 11, 2010/ 3:36pm Bonner Springs, KS Speedy Cash (KCMO) 100.00 
58993501 Apr 1, 2010/ 6:59pm Bonner Springs, KS Speedy Cash (KCMO) 50.00 
66158614 Apr 4,2010/ 9:34am Bonner Springs, KS Speedy Cash (KCMO) 30.00 
60068926 Apr 13, 2010/ 10:24am Bonner Springs, KS Speedy Cash (KCIVIO) 100.00 
62442060 Apr 27,2010/ 6:10pm Bonner Springs, KS Conoco (KCMO) 50.00 
31386605 Apr 28,2010/ 9:19pm Bonner Springs, KS Conoco (KCMO) 50.00 
76352562 May 19, 2010/ 8:46pm Bonner Springs, KS Speedy Cash (KCMO) 50.00 
93511539 May 24,2010/ 1:13pm Bonner Springs, KS Speedy Cash (KCMO) 50.00 
77798693 May 27,2010/ 8:18pm Bonner Springs, KS Conoco (KCMO) 50.00 
61027697 May 28, 2010 /4:01 pm Bonner Springs, KS Speedy Cash (KCMO) 250.00 
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In addition to the above listed financial assistance provided to the defendant, 

J.B. and her husband took the defendant shopping and delivered dog food, groceries, 

cash, a refrigerator, and stove to the defendant. 

On June 1, 2010, J.B. received text messages stating the defendant was in labor 

at KU Medical Center, and inquiring if J.B. was still adopting the twins. J.B. received 

more text messages stating the defendant was at St. Joseph Hospital. ..I.B. contacted 

KU Medical Center and was told the defendant was not at their facility. J.B. contacted 

St. Joseph Hospital and was told the defendant had already been discharged. 

A couple of days later J.B. received texts from the defendant inquiring if J.B. was 

still going to adopt the twins. J.B. inquired where the defendant was located. J.B. sent 

several more text messages inquiring about the defendant's location but the defendant 

never provided such. On June 5, 2010, the texting from defendant stopped. J.B. 

contacted the attorney the defendant had used, who stated there was nothing he could 

do about the situation because the defendant simply "changed her mind." 

On March 16, 2011, Special Agent Simmons and I arrested the defendant at an 

area hotel on state charges stemming from another adoption scam using a different 

alias. The defendant, after being advised of her Miranda rights, agreed to be 

interviewed. The defendant confessed to using alias names, different addresses, 

phone numbers, social security numbers, and other information with adoption agencies 

and adoptive families pretending to be pregnant in an attempt to get money for rent, 

groceries, utilities, and other living expenses. The defendant admitted that what she did 

was wrong, and said she was untruthful. 
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A state search warrant was obtained for a cellular telephone found on the 

defendant at the time of her arrest. J.B.'s name and contact information was found 

stored in the phone. 

Dennis Reaser 

Sworn to before me and subscribed in my presence, 

April 13, 2011 at Kansas City, Kansas. 

Date 

Honorable David J. Waxse 

United States Magistrate Judge 

Name & Title of Judicial Officer Signature of Judicial Officer 
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PENALTIES 

Counts 1-11: 

Count 12: 

18 U.S.C. Sec. 1343 

NMT 20 years imprisonment; 

$250,000 fine 

NMT 3 years supervised release 

$100 mandatory special assessment 

Order of restitution 

18 U.S.C. 1028A 

2 years imprisonment, consecutive 

$250,000 fine 

NMT 1 year supervised release 

$100.00 mandatory special assessment 
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